

LUND UNIVERSITY

Parental support in a changing society

Hallberg, Ann-Christine

2006

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA):

Hallberg, A.-C. (2006). Parental support in a changing society. [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Department of Health Sciences]. Department of Clinical Sciences, Lund University.

Total number of authors:

General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

PO Box 117 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00 From

Department of Clinical Sciences, Malmö General Practice/Family Medicine Lund University Malmö University Hospital Malmö Sweden

Parental support in a changing society

Ann-Christine Hallberg



FACULTY OF MEDICINE

Malmö 2006

Abstract

In today's Swedish society there is increasing emphasis on health-promotive work among children, adolescents, and their parents. Knowledge is needed about why certain activities work better than others. It is important to study the parents' motives and experiences of participating in parental supporting programmes.

In child health care, mostly among the nurses, there is a contrast between what they wish to do and what they have to do according to policy guidelines. By revealing the main lines in the development of Swedish child health care (Paper I), we hoped to obtain a better understanding of this discrepancy between policy and practice. It is difficult to translate policy recommendation into practice. One reason is the increasing focus on psychosocial problems. Another reason is the transition from unambiguously described measures in terms of paternalistic regulation to a more participatory and expansive definition of roles and responsibilities.

In an interview study (Paper II), both parents and child health care staff emphasized support and medical check-ups as particularly important. There was a clash between the parents' need for support and their need for integrity. The parents viewed parental education as an opportunity to exchange experience with other adults, while the staff mainly regarded the education as a way to inform parents and strengthen them in their parental role.

Fathers participate to a lesser degree in parental supporting activities in Sweden today. To increase knowledge about fathers' perception of and involvement in their children's health, we interviewed 237 fathers of small children in Skåne by telephone (Paper III). The fathers were involved in their children to a large extent, and they performed just as many caring as playing activities. They had a good idea of the child's health and just over half of them had at some time contacted a doctor. Although 97% felt that they were good fathers, slightly more than half of them (54%) thought that they spent enough time with their children.

Most parental supporting programmes are initiated centrally. In Paper IV a process whereby parents of teenage children developed and implemented their own "parents' school" is described. Parents took part in planning meetings and lecture evenings including group discussions. The majority reported that they were satisfied with the activity and had acquired knowledge and insight about the teenage period. The parents' own ambitions for the activity seemed to be visionary and long-term.

This thesis indicates that is not possible to propose one specific model for parental support. In future activities one should include the parents right from the planning and implementation stage. Long-term work is more important than many different short projects to obtain good evaluations. There is a need to clarify the conditions for developing methods of parental support in child health care. New forms of family support that includes the father on equal terms could be designed and researched.

© Ann-Christine Hallberg, 2006 Printed by Media Tryck printing office, Lund, Sweden ISBN 91-85559-23-7

To my daughter Anna

List of publications

This thesis is based on the following publications, which will be referred to by their Roman numerals.

- I Hallberg A-C, Lindbladh E, Petersson K, Råstam L, Håkansson A. Swedish child health care in a changing society. *Scand J Caring Sci* 2005;19:196–203.
- II Hallberg A-C, Lindbladh E, Råstam L, Håkansson A. Parents: the best experts in child health care? Viewpoints from parents and staff concerning child health services. *Patient Educ Counselling* 2001; 44:151–9.
- III Hallberg A-C, Kristiansson R, Beckman A, Petersson K, Lindbladh E, Råstam L, Håkansson A. Fathers and their children's health: a telephone interview study. (*Submitted*).
- IV Hallberg A-C, Håkansson A. Training programme for parents of teenagers: active parental participation in development and implementation. J Child Health Care 2003;7:7–16.

Reprints of articles are made with permission from the publishers.

Contents

Introduction	9
Background	. 10
Parenthood and child health	. 10
Parental support	. 11
Studies of parental support	
Children's health	. 13
Children and family in Sweden	. 14
The situation today	
Parental support in Sweden	. 15
Child health care	
The role of the father	. 16
School children and teenagers	
Studying parental support	
Design of the thesis	
Paper I	
Paper II	
Paper III	
Paper IV	
Aims	. 19
Materials and methods	. 20
Swedish child health care in a changing society (Paper I)	. 20
Parents: the best experts in child health care? (Paper II)	
Fathers and their children's health (Paper III)	. 22
Training programme for parents of teenagers (Paper IV)	
Results and comments	
Swedish child health care in a changing society (Paper I)	. 24
Comments	
Parents: the best experts in child health care? (Paper II)	. 26
Comments	
Fathers and their children's health (Paper III)	. 28
Comments	
Training programme for parents of teenagers (Paper IV)	
Comments	
General discussion	
Methodological considerations	
Responsibility for children's health and welfare	
Present need of parental support in Sweden	
General or directed parental support	
Design of parental support	. 38

Introduction

Do we do the right things in our work of supporting parents? That question has followed me for the whole of my professional life in Swedish social services, school and child health care, and primary care since the 1970s until the present day. I have initiated and taken part in various supportive measures and health-promotive work to do with children and adolescents during a time of societal development and a changing health panorama. The question is still relevant.

In discussions with nurses in child health care it has become clear that there is sometimes an opposition between what one must do according to the instructions and what one wants to do. To achieve an understanding of this difference between policy and practice, a study was started to reveal the main lines in the development of Swedish child health care (Paper I).

During several years as a counsellor I have heard the question mainly from nurses in child health care, wondering whether they are doing the right things. What do the parents think, and what support do they want? This was the point of departure for the second study, where we sought to describe, through in-depth interviews with parents and child health care personnel, how parents and staff think about the work of child health care (Paper II).

During my work with supportive measures for parents of children and adolescents, it has struck me how few fathers take part, and how little we know about the fathers' perception of and involvement in their children's health. To achieve greater knowledge about this, a telephone interview study was conducted with fathers of infants in Skåne (Paper III).

A great deal of the support given to parents in Sweden is initiated and planned centrally in society. Little is known about parents' motives for participating and their perception of parental support measures. This experience led to the fourth study of a support programme in which parents of teenagers themselves took part in the development and implementation of a parental support activity (Paper IV).

Background

Today's society is increasingly focusing on the factors leading to improved health or the avoidance of illness, i.e. health factors. Since 1986, the Ottawa Charter for Health has been an important influence in the public health debate [1]. Prevention/health promotion work has been very much in focus.

The preamble to the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child points out the importance of the family situation for the child's development and how important it is for the child to receive the support it needs to further its positive development [2]. Article 24 of the Convention enshrines the need to provide parental support. The signatory states must take suitable measures such as:

To ensure that all segments of society, in particular parents and children, are informed, have access to education and are supported in the use of basic knowledge of child health and nutrition, the advantages of breastfeeding, hygiene and environmental sanitation and the prevention of accidents. ... To develop preventive health care, guidance for parents and family planning education and services (Article 24).

Sweden introduced a national public health policy in 2003. The eleven goals for public health work include factors such as participation and influence in society, improved health in working life, increased physical activity, sound nutritional habits, decreased use of alcohol and tobacco, and more health-oriented health and medical care [3]. Swedish public health care goals focus on health and health determinants rather than on illness [4].

Secure and sound childhood conditions are another goal stated in the Swedish public health care policy. A factor that is significant for a child's or young person's health is good parenting. Good parenthood depends on many different things. The parents' goals and values come into play, the children's characteristics, and the application of norms in different cultures. Early interaction between children and parents is important for a good relationship between children and parents. As shown below, the significance of parenthood for children's health has been demonstrated in several international and Swedish studies.

Parenthood and child health

The family is of great importance to the child, not least regarding lifestyle and healthy habits [5]. Children need security and opportunities to forge close relations in order to develop positively. In most cases the family has given the child these opportunities [6]. The early years in children's lives are the most significant, and it

is essential to offer parents support in this period. The early bond between children and parents is important. International research has shown that a secure bond serves as a foundation for a well-functioning relationship between children and parents, facilitating the growth and maintenance of close relations with adults and coevals in the pre-school years and later [7]. Individuals who establish a secure bond as infants retain this throughout their lives [8]. This in turn influences interaction with other adults during adolescence and in adult years [8–9].

It can happen that a child does not bond with its parents. An insecure bond can lead to mental ill health [10–11]. It has also been shown that an insecure bond is a risk factor for various forms of mental disturbance in pre-school and school years [10]. In cases where the interaction between parents and children been has been frightening for the child, this has been associated with a seriously elevated risk of developing aggression and other problems with acting out [12]. In Sweden about 40% of all children do not spontaneously develop a secure bond [13–14].

Several international studies have also emphasized the association between morbidity in childhood and in adult life [15], and an association between psychosocial problems in childhood and states such as depression [16], attention disorders and behavioural disorders [17–18], and personality disorders [19–20]. Also, smoking, which is one of the most expensive and pathogenic behaviours in the population, mostly has its roots in conditions during childhood and adolescence. The norms in the family play a major role in this, and the importance of parenthood can scarcely be exaggerated in this context [21].

Parental support

Many people manage their parenthood without outside help, and experience few conflicts or difficulties. Others feel insecure as parents and sometimes need support and help, knowledge and networks to be strengthened in their parental role. Salutogenic factors (health factors) strengthen the ability to resist mental and social stress [22]. Examples of such factors are creativity, good ability to create social relations, ability to have empathy, impulse control, problem-solving capacity and a feeling of being in control of one's own life. Many of these characteristics can be acquired through role-play training with adults. There are also salutogenic factors in families and the environment that are important to a child's or young person's health. An example is a trusting relationship with one or both parents or another adult, clear rules and boundaries, etc. It is thus important to provide parents with support so that the family can work with these salutogenic factors.

Parental support consists of organised work with parents to promote the child's well-being, or indirect work such as family law and various types of transfers. This dissertation focuses on examining the former – direct parental support – using international and Swedish research on the importance and effect of the different forms of such support.

Studies of parental support

Opinions have differed about the orientation of parental education programmes and the influence these can have on parents [23–24]. A comprehensive survey of published literature from 1997 notes that it is doubtful whether support for parents has any effects, that is, whether it influences children's development and welfare [25]. In contrast, a systematic research survey from 2003 on international parental support measures has shown many good examples of evaluation using scientific methods [26]. The evaluations revealed that the support led to distinct improvements in children's mental health [27–30]. Efforts in groups seem to give effects that are at least equally as good as individually directed measures.

Support for parents indirectly benefits the children. If the parents feel well, their children usually feel well too. International it has been shown that children manage better if their parents have good contacts with other adults [31]. Attempts to clarify how social contacts can promote health and well-being have highlighted different aspects of importance. For example, it is essential to be able to obtain information, to receive emotional support and opportunities for community [32]. It has also been found that social support is of particular value when parents encounter a problem or in some other way are exposed to strains [33].

Risk factors for ill health in adult age are partly grounded during childhood. There is a clear association between the use of alcohol, tobacco, and drugs on the one hand and mental ill health on the other. Efforts directed at parents offer the potential to prevent this type of problem. An American study showed that the occurrence of serious physical and mental morbidity in the 55–60 age group was three times lower if both parents had been warm and caring in the years when a person was growing up [34].

Effects of totally open discussion groups where the parents themselves decide the content have not been presented scientifically. Group activity designed by individual midwives has been investigated in controlled studies. It has been found that the work does not have any demonstrable effect [35]. It is uncertain whether open discussion groups geared to all parents have any effect. Research has shown, however, that such groups can have an effect when the parents have a shared problem [36–38]. This also applies to parents with children of younger school age [39].

Evidence for effects on children and parents of interaction programmes offered in the pre-school years can be found in studies, concerning both group programmes and programmes offered individually [40–50]. However, a review of five studies of parenting programmes aimed to improve the emotional and behavioural adjustment of children under the age of 3 concluded that there is insufficient evidence regarding the role such programmes might play in primary prevention. Nor is there enough data available concerning the long-term effectiveness [51]. For children of younger school age, interaction programmes have demonstrated effects on children's mental health [52–54]. When it comes to the 10–15 age group, the effects here too have been shown to be greatest in structured parents' groups and in open discussion groups when the parents have a shared problem [39].

To sum up, a review of the international evidence regarding the effectiveness of parental support programmes indicates that there are many families in the community who could benefit from parenting support in one form or another [55].

Children's health

Child poverty has increased since 1990 in most of the world's developing countries, according to a Unicef report [56]. Between 40 and 50 million children in some of the world's richest countries are being raised in poverty. Child poverty differs between the rich countries and the poor ones, where e.g. half of all children do not have access to basic health care or schooling.

From an international perspective, the health of children and young people in Sweden is very good. In 2002, Sweden was one of the best nations in Europe according to a ranking by WHO of public health care of children aged 1–14 [57].

Sweden and Norway are outstanding as regards breast feeding. Swedish young people's use of cannabis, alcohol, and tobacco is below the European average. They are also happier in their relationships with their parents than the European average. Fewer children are bullied in Swedish schools, yet school is not popular amongst them. They show a rate of psychosomatic disorders that is higher than the European average [58].

In today's Swedish society, almost all children are well fed and have access to qualified health and medical care. However, the child's health remains influenced by factors such as the family's material situation, growing up with one or with two parents, dropping out of school or work, or growing up in a family of foreign origin. There are "social differences" in health in Sweden. A 2002 report shows that physical health problems are on average 60% more common in the less socially accepted children [59], and mental problems are 70% more usual. Sudden cot deaths are 3 to 4 times more common in more vulnerable social environments. Suicide and self-harm are more common amongst less socially accepted young people. Smoking, physical activity and alcohol are risk factors that are significantly influenced by the social environment.

Following the newborn period, the public health care problems of the growing years are mainly sudden infant death syndrome, mental problems, accidental injuries, infections, eating disorders, asthma, and allergies [60]. Asthma, allergies, obesity, and excess weight affect an increasing number of children. In the western world, the weight of children and young people in relation to their height has increased in the last twenty to thirty years. The proportion of overweight children in Sweden has doubled from the mid-1980s to 2000–2001 [61–62].

Mental illness is currently the greatest health problem during childhood and adolescence. However, complete information is not available on the extent. In 2004, 10–15% of all children sought the help of a child psychologist during their childhood/adolescence [62]. Every third 10–18-year-old had headaches, stomach aches or sleep problems in 2001 [63].

Many asylum-seeking children show signs of mental illness, particularly panic, fear, separation anxiety, and sleep disorders whilst asylum is being sought [64]. Every second child from a non-European country or from a non-EU country is in a vulnerable economic situation [65]. Such a situation is strongly linked to health risks such as psychosis, drug abuse, and excess weight [61].

Children and family in Sweden

The composition of the family has varied over time. In the early 1930s, Sweden had the lowest birth rate in Europe. In the 1930s and 1940s, to increase the birth rate, various economic reforms were carried out to reduce the difference between childless women and those who had children. Right up until the end of the 1950s, the father was usually the breadwinner and most mothers were housewives full-time, but the economic boom of the 1960s led to a higher frequency of gainful employment among women [66]. Family policy measures were now geared to support for low-income groups, single parents, and families with many children.

Large-scale structural rationalization took place, accentuating the demand for a mobile workforce in the 1970s and 1980s, and nativity fell once again. Family policy was chiefly geared to enabling both parents to work, for example, by expanding daycare for children and introducing parental insurance which gave parents the right to leave in connection with the child's birth. Despite higher material standards, shorter working hours, and expanded daycare, a weakening of the social ties between the generations was observed, and the isolated nuclear family became a familiar concept [67].

In the early 1990s, financial support for parents was subject to constant change [68]. Single parents or households where only one adult was gainfully employed found it increasingly difficult to manage economically. The fertility rate decreased again. There was also a decline as regards benefits and subsidy levels, exacerbating the already strained situation of poor families [69]. The number of children in low-income households rose in the 1990s, particularly those aged 0–6 years [63]. After 1998, the economic situation for families with children gradually improved. By raising child benefits and introducing a maximum fee for childcare, the government has tried to compensate these families for their adverse economic situation.

The situation today

In 2002, 17% of children aged 0–6 years lived in vulnerable economic conditions compared with 7% aged 7–17 years (65). Not all children have the good relations with their parents that are considered desirable. In the last twenty years, the number of children living with parents who are separated has increased. In 2001–2002, 85% of children aged 0–5 years lived with their biological parents; the equivalent figure is 73% for those aged 0–17 years [61].

The increased immigration that took place in the 1990s and the start of the 21st century has also contributed to the fragile social network of many parents. The occurrence of new marginalized groups living in poverty and unemployment has increased [59]. In 2002, over 100,000 children were born abroad, and a further 160,000 children had parents who were both born abroad [70]. The number of children of foreign extraction was around 15% in 2004 [62].

Parental support in Sweden

Several institutions in Swedish society emphasize the importance of support in parenthood [71–72]. It is essential that support is provided at an early stage and then follows the child during childhood and adolescence [73]. Examples of state authorities involved in work with parental support in Sweden are the National Board of Health and Welfare, the National Agency for Education, the National Institute of Public Health, the National Board of Institutional Care, and the Children's Ombudsman.

In the county councils, parental support is pursued in maternity care and child health care, and in the municipalities in individual and family care, child care, and schools. In addition, there are many interest groups and voluntary organizations performing active work, such as Save the Children, the Red Cross, the Home and School Association, church organizations, and immigrant organizations. Various adult education associations also hold study circles [73].

Child health care

Child health care in Sweden is the one institution that encompasses nearly all families with children and thus plays the most important role as far as public health care is concerned. Its task is to promote health and prevent ill-health. Parents' participation is required if children are to enjoy health care, and child health care has long been an important arena both for somatic check-ups of the child and for support to the parents. Several international surveys in recent years have highlighted the significance of child health care for children's health and well-being [21, 74] and its contribution to steadily improved physical health. As said above, the occurrence of behavioural and mental problems has increased [75]. Mental ill health is the largest health problem today [76]. As the health panorama has changed over the years, child health care has developed from having been a purely medical activity to acquire greater psychosocial ambitions. Changes in the range of childhood problems necessitate a way of working different from the prevailing and established way. Current problems, e.g. parental stress, postnatal depression and bonding difficulties, are being discussed within the child health care system today [77]. It has been pointed out that the focus on discovering deviations in children should be changed to a public health care perspective, i.e. mobilizing parental resources, confidence in parents' ability and competence, and concentrating on supporting children and families with special needs [60, 78–79)].

Thus, there has been a shift from a pure child perspective towards a more family-orientated outlook. Interaction between children, the family, and society has been increasingly emphasized [67, 80]. Child health care is supposed to help with adjustment to the parental role, to support the vulnerable family, and to assist in identifying children who are suffering. There is also a heavy emphasis on preventive work when children are exposed to smoking, and allergy prevention is an important task for child health care.

Since 1979 all new parents have been offered education and health information through organized parental education under the leadership of the nurse at the child health care centre [67]. A report from the National Board of Health and Welfare in 1992 showed that not all parents are reached by group parental education and that many who do not take part are in great need of psychosocial and other support [81].

The role of the father

The National Board of Health and Welfare emphasizes the child-parent relationship in its recommendations. If child health care is to work for the whole family, we must also involve the fathers in discussion and action. It is mostly mothers who visit child health care, and they constitute the majority in group activities [82]. Earlier research has lacked insight into fathers' role in their children's health [83].

At the same time, the demand for the fathers' active responsibility for their children has increased. It is important that activities for parental support in the future also satisfy the fathers' special needs for support and acknowledgement in their paternal role [30]. It is thus important to find out how fathers themselves appreciate such support. We also lack knowledge of how parents reason about their children's health and active participation in everyday life [84].

School children and teenagers

Since the 1970s there has been an idea that parents should be offered support even after the infancy period, when the responsibility for the children is often shared between parents and preschool/school [71, 85]. There have not been sufficient resources for this. The support that parents have received has often been geared to problems, and interventions have mostly taken the form of financial support or contact with, for example, child and adolescent psychiatry or the social services. But the field of parental support is under development and different types of parental support have gradually emerged [85]. Studies have shown that negative interaction causes and exacerbates behavioural problems in the child [86–87]. The various programmes after infancy are thus mainly aimed at developing positive interaction between children and parents. In the long term the aim is to reduce the risk of children developing behavioural problems.

In studies of programmes aimed solely at parents, effects have been demonstrated as regards children's behaviour [88], communication in the family [89], and the child's self-perception [90]. Support for parents with teenagers is usually geared to preventing problems to do with the use of drugs, tobacco, and alcohol. The programmes that dominate here are mainly intended to develop good communication between children and parents.

Studying parental support

Many health promotion activities as part of parental support have been initiated in Sweden. As stated above, there is evidence of their importance and effects both nationally and internationally. Many of the programmes initiated in Sweden have not been thoroughly evaluated both quantitatively and qualitatively. International studies show that it is important to do this, in order to see what works and why certain activities work better than others (55). For example, it is important to study parental motives for participation and their experience of the parental support programme in question. Do parents and professionals have differing views of parental support? Are we doing the right things? In the right place? What is behind the discrepancy between policy and practice as expressed by many of those in child health care? How do fathers regard their child's health, how involved are they and how can we get them to participate in health promotion activities? By means of the studies in this dissertation we would like to present parental support in Sweden from a staff and parental perspective, thus contributing certain aspects to the development of parental support work.

Design of the thesis

Paper I

Discourse analysis Swedish child health care from 1930 to 2000 Selections of official documents

Paper II

Interview study Parents and professionals in child health care Practice

Paper III

Telephone interview study Fathers of young children in southern Sweden Perceptions of and involvement in child health

Paper IV

Process description Evaluation of experiences of a parental programme Intervention

Aims

The overall aim was to shed light on aspects of parental support in Sweden from the perspective of parents and staff in relation to societal development and a changed health panorama.

The studies making up the thesis had as their specific aim:

- To illustrate the main trends in the long-term development of Swedish child health care, in order to achieve a better understanding of current trends and problems (Paper I).
- To describe what parents and staff think about child health care; to identify agreements and differences in outlook as regards expectations of the individual consultation and the group-based parental education (Paper II).
- To find out more about fathers' perception of and involvement in their children's health, as part of the expansion of knowledge in child health care (Paper III).
- To describe the process whereby parents of teenage children develop and implement their own "parents' school" and to present their experience of participating in this (Paper IV).

Materials and methods

Swedish child health care in a changing society (Paper I)

The study was based on a selection of official documents concerning child health care in the period 1930 until today. In Sweden major changes in public activities are usually preceded by state inquiries, which review facts, analyse problems, and propose relevant measures [91]. On several occasions during the period in question, child health care had been the subject of state inquiries, and these documents were a significant part of our research material [67, 92–95].

Another type of document involved in the analysis was the instructions (policies and guidelines) issued by the National Board of Health and Welfare to make the overarching directives concrete [96–104]. In addition to this, our textual material included documentation from conferences [60], publications from ministries [66, 68], and scholarly articles [105–106] with the focus on child health care.

The method applied can be described as a form of discourse analysis [107]. The term discourse refers to a specific, coherent, and persuasive way of talking about and understanding a particular topic (such as child health care) [108]. A discourse analysis examines the construction of written (or verbal) accounts and the language/vocabulary employed. The rhetorical nature of texts is considered to be essential [109]. This means that emphasis is placed on statements, what is said about the phenomenon of investigation, while what actually happens in day-to-day work was outside the scope of our analysis.

In order to become familiar with our material, the selected texts were carefully read through. In the first analysis of the documents we concentrated on two general questions: What do the texts say about society/family/health, and how are aims/methods of child health care described? Passages dealing with these aspects were marked and a detailed coding of these segments identified central events and assumptions/statements, which were named and noted in the margin. Next we searched for patterns of differences and consistency in the data [108], and this resulted in the identification of four child health care discourses that corresponded to different periods.

When the material was examined once again, in the light of this classification, normality and control were recognized as central and continuous dimensions. We were then able to see how the meaning of these concepts changed in different discursive contexts. A shifting focus regarding level of responsibility (collective/individual) and orientation of measures (general/selective) was now observed as central themes in the public debate on child health care.

Parents: the best experts in child health care? (Paper II)

This study was conducted in a geographically delimited area in Malmö. The area reflects the socio-economic conditions in Malmö as a whole. There were four child health clinics, each of which was attached to a health centre.

In 1995 the staff at the four child health clinics were informed about the background, objective, and implementation of the study. The staff at the clinics – eleven doctors and fourteen nurses – had to write their names on a list if they were interested in taking part in the study, also suggesting the time and place for an interview. Six doctors and all the nurses expressed an interest in taking part.

Fifteen children aged 0–3 were selected at each of the four clinics. The age group 0–3 was selected because it is during this period that parents and children have the most frequent contact with child health care. A random selection was made from the list of registered children at each clinic [110]. The parents of the children were invited by letter to take part in our study. Ten families declined to participate. Parents of ten new randomly selected children were then invited to take part. A total of 58 mothers and 2 fathers were interviewed. One interview had to be excluded because the tape was damaged.

We wanted to describe the different ways in which parents and staff perceive and evaluate child health care. We chose to use semi-structured interviews to capture parents' and staff's values and viewpoints in their own words. The interview guide had a checklist to ensure that all relevant topics were discussed. The interviews took the form of conversations and were tape-recorded. The interviews were transcribed verbatim.

Data were analysed using a phenomenographic method [111–112]. A distinctive feature of this approach is the categorization of perceptions and the interpretive character of the analysis. Phenomenography aims to describe qualitatively how people see and experience things and phenomena around them, e.g. the health service they are offered.

To begin with, all the interviews were read through to obtain an overview of the material. In the interviews we looked for statements describing perceptions. Different statements which occurred on more than one occasion in the interviews were marked. Each individual statement was compared with statements in every other interview. On closer scrutiny of these, further statements were identified. The distinctive features of the statements were then analysed to find further dimensions that required new labels to describe perceptions. A varied and nuanced picture was obtained of the parents' and staff's view of the work of child health care.

Fathers and their children's health (Paper III)

As part of the expansion of knowledge in child health care, in this study we wanted to find out more about fathers' perception of and involvement in their children's health. We asked questions about the care and the upbringing of the child, the child's health and ill health, as well as about the role of the father.

We chose to conduct a telephone interview survey with fathers of small children. The study population comprised 300 randomly selected men living in the southernmost Swedish county of Skåne, with children of their own (biological or adopted) born in 1999, 2000, or 2001. A week or so before the interview, a letter was sent to the fathers about the study requesting their voluntary participation. We then telephoned the fathers, and if they agreed to take part the interview was held, either immediately or at some other agreed time.

We called 300 fathers. Out of those 21 could not be reached as there were no answers to repeated calls or they had moved without giving a new address, thus leaving 279 fathers in the study population. In 12 cases language difficulties were an obstacle to a good interview and 30 declined. Because of ethical considerations no further questioning was performed. A total of 237 fathers (85%; 237/279) were thus interviewed. Of those, 48 had a new child, born in 2002 (N=32) or 2003 (N=16). The interview focused on the youngest child in the family.

One hundred and sixteen interviews (42%) were conducted by the first author (ACH), while the remaining interviews were conducted by three other staff members at the department (N=81 interviews), one of the co-authors (KP; N=7), or by students under her supervision (N=33); a total of 7 people.

In the presentation of the results we primarily consider what all the 237 interviewed fathers answered. We applied logistic regression to investigate the role of father's age (above vs below the median), number of children in the family (more than one vs. only one). And father's occupation (white- vs. blue-collar). Finally, we did the same analyses of only those 189 fathers (80%) whose youngest child was born in 1999, 2000, or 2001, and the results remained almost the same.

Training programme for parents of teenagers (Paper IV)

In a neighbourhood of Malmö in southern Sweden an initiative was taken in 1995/96 to start activities for parents with teenagers.

In the summer of 1996, a telephone survey was conducted by an external consultant to ascertain the interest in a "parents' school", where the parents could meet and discuss the teenage phase and its problems. The questionnaire included open questions about the parents' needs of more knowledge and contact with other parents. A total of 142 parents with children aged 10–16 years were interviewed. Forty-nine parents were interested in taking part in the planning of the school. A project leader (Ann-Christine Hallberg) was employed, and she invited the interested parents to the first planning meeting.

A total of 36 parents attended four planning meetings in the spring of 1997 (14–26 parents on each occasion), in order to plan the content and forms of parental training along with the project leader. At the beginning of August 1997, invitations were sent to all the households in Oxie with children aged 13–19 (approximately 1000). The parents were supposed to register their interest in taking part in four lecture evenings and follow-up evenings. A total of 105 parents (including those who took part in the planning meetings) registered, most of them with children under the age of 16.

A questionnaire was distributed in December 1997 to the 105 parents who had registered their interest in participating. The questionnaire included items with both fixed and open response alternatives. Those who had participated were asked to complete the whole questionnaire, including the questions concerning their experience of the actual activities. Those who did not participate were asked to answer the parts of the questionnaire dealing with their identity and their views on a continuation of the school. The questionnaire was completed by 66 parents (63%).

Results and comments

Swedish child health care in a changing society (Paper I)

Four discourses were identified, which served as a foundation for a periodization of the development of Swedish child health care. During the *first* period (1930s–1940s) the main task of child health care, alongside checking children's development, was to inform and educate the mothers. The target group consisted of mothers who, for various reasons, were unable to look after their children. The measures of child health care are described as prophylactic work, mainly surveillance of nutrition and feeding and educating mothers on how to prevent disease by improving hygienic standards [93, 113].

In the *second* period (1950s–1960s) health supervision became the most important task, and child health care had to identify risks and discover abnormalities and disabilities. The main focus shifted from the social and nutritional perspective to medical examinations and immunizations. Preventive efforts related to physical health as well as mental health were started. New screening methods were introduced [100–104, 106].

The task of child health care was extended in the *third period* (1970s–1980s). The discussion increasingly focused on identifying health-related and social risk groups, and the work was more geared to monitoring how parents looked after their children. Duties now also included more supervision of the health of pre-school children. The importance of discovering child abuse and inadequate care was increasingly emphasized [96–97]. Parental education was introduced in child health care and a family-oriented strategy was described [67, 98–99].

In the *fourth* period (1990s to 2000s) the work of child health care concentrated more on the child's environment and the family as a whole, and child health care is now defined as an institution which is supposed to strengthen the parents' self-confidence and competence. In the discussion of child health care there is a greater focus on psychosocial problems [114]. The parents' lifestyle is emphasized even more as being significant for the child's health [69, 60]. Child health care has acquired a new expert role, expected to be available when the parents ask for advice [60, 71].

In the analysis of our material we found qualitative changes in views and attitudes in the development of Swedish child health care. *Normality and control* emerged as central and constantly present dimensions. We could see how the meaning of concepts changed during the studied period. This helped us to identify a basic change in the level of responsibility for children's health and in the focus of measures in child health care. During the two first periods a *collective level of responsibility* was predominant and children's health and well-being were in general perceived and talked about as a duty of society. A collectivistic orientation could also be noted in the discussion on child health care during the third period. Even though the advent of parental education – as a major theme in the policy debate – marked an important change in direction, the radical turn emerged in the 1990s, when the notion of *individual responsibility* was firmly established and consistently framed the discourse on child health care.

From the beginning, the target group of child health care was children and their mothers, but later the attention was directed at the family as a whole. *General measures* in the form of preventive work and vaccination programmes became the primary task of child health care in the 1950s and 1960s. During the 1970s and 1980s there were both general measures such as health promotion, pre-school health care, and parental education, and *selective measures* in the form of information campaigns targeting specific health-related and social risk groups. In the 1990s the question of cost-effectiveness affected the debate on whether or not child health care should concentrate its resources on vulnerable families and children with special needs, and as a result, selective measures were increasingly advocated.

Comments

Changes to society and to the area of health-related problems make great demands on child health care. In Sweden, as in many other countries, the importance of adjusting child health care to changed conditions is stressed [115–119].

The shifting focus from the child's physical health to "psychosocial" problems evidences the transition from descriptions of concrete and well-defined duties, which characterized policy outlines of child health care during the first two periods, to more abstract and general descriptions of tasks (characteristic of present policy documents) which are by definition more open to interpretation. Another reason for the difficulty of translating policy recommendations into practice is found in the transition from unambiguously described measures in terms of paternalistic regulations to more participatory and at the same time more expansive definitions of roles and responsibilities. The parent whose health awareness, competence and self-confidence should be increased, with assistance from nurses and doctors, represents a key figure in the contemporary discourse of Swedish child health care. As a result the burden of responsibility for both parents and staff tends to increase.

The method we used in this study was a form of discourse analysis. This examines the construction of written and verbal accounts and language/vocabulary employed. In this method the theoretical nature of the text is considered to be essential [109]. The method was thus suitable for our study. However, it should be noted that our attempt to describe the transformation of the Swedish child health care agenda in a historical perspective has limitations in that the analysis is restricted to official policy documents, which means that debates among professionals as well as lay perspectives are not considered. However, the study offers a baseline for identifying essential trends and turning points. The historical approach should be seen as an analytical device that can assist the process of exploring the current gap between policy and practice.

Parents: the best experts in child health care? (Paper II)

The *parents* chiefly encountered child health care through individual visits. They either made contact on their own initiative or else they were invited to various medical check-ups for the children. They were also invited to take part in parent groups. The interview responses showed that there were significant differences in views between parents and staff, reflecting contradictions regarding both individual contacts and parent groups.

With regard to the individual contacts, parents and staff were unanimous in saying that the most important task of child health care is to give support. The *parents* came to the clinic to receive confirmation that they were making the right judgements in different situations. They came to have the child weighed and measured and in conjunction with this to get advice about food and breast-feeding. The parents also stressed the importance of being able to deal with questions about setting limits and insomnia in the children. It was felt important to receive a "professional judgement" from the staff. In several cases, child health care was also perceived as a support by virtue of the opportunity it gave to "get things off one's chest" in order to reduce anxiety or to break a sense of isolation. The *staff* had a basically similar outlook. However, few parents thought that child health care should deal with private and family-related problems, preferring instead to look for help elsewhere in such situations. In contrast, the staff stressed the importance of working with the family as a whole.

The other task that both parents and staff highlighted as being important in child health care was the medical check-ups. Different attitudes could nevertheless be distinguished as regards the check-ups as well. The *parents* stressed the importance of knowing whether the child was healthy and developing normally, but the check-ups could also give parents feelings of guilt and anxiety, and in some cases they were perceived as surveillance. Whereas the parents emphasized the importance of checking physical health, the *nurses* in the main attached greater importance to checking up psychosocial health. They focused on the importance of checking the child's mental development and the interaction between child and parents.

The interview responses also showed that the *nurses* felt torn between their own experience and knowledge and the duty imposed from above of pursuing all the points of the check-up at any price, even if this was often considered superfluous from a professional stance based on experience. This conflict could be a source of stress.

Twenty-nine of the interviewed parents had experience of participation in parental education, as had 12 nurses, but none of the doctors. Parents and staff had different views about this too. *Parents* saw the greatest benefit of parental education in the opportunity to meet other parents and exchange experiences. Just as with individual contacts with child health care, they emphasized the importance of support; being able to discuss one's insecurity with other parents, receiving confirmation and making contacts. The *nurses* primarily regarded parental education as an opportunity to inform the parents. The majority believed that they should work as they already worked, by assembling parents of children of different ages and informing them about concrete matters concerning the respective age group: diet, accidents, setting limits, and so on. Some nurses felt that they ought to work more with groups of parents who had special needs in common.

An important observation here was the stress caused by the demand to initiate parental education. The *nurses* felt that they were not regarded by their employer and colleagues as sufficiently efficient and competent in their work if they did not have ongoing group activities, while they also felt that they had inadequate time or knowledge to arrange and lead groups.

Comments

Both parents and staff emphasized two tasks as being of particular importance in the work of child health care: giving *support* and carrying out *medical check-ups*. Previous studies have presented similar results [120–123]. However, the results of our study showed various contradictions.

The *parents* came to the clinic when they were uncertain about matters concerning their children and sometimes also to get into contact with other adults. The *staff* spoke from their professional stance about the needs that child health care should satisfy according to central directives and stressed the importance of work with the whole. There was a tension between security and integrity.

As regards parental education, the *parents* saw this activity primarily as an opportunity to meet other adults and share experiences, while the *nurses* chiefly saw parental education as a pedagogical opportunity to give parents information.

Individual nurses experienced a conflict between what they wanted to do and what they felt that they had to do. Finally, there was also a hint of contradiction to do with how the nurse's professional role has changed from measures aimed at the child to inspecting the whole family and the child's environment. The method we used is a well-documented scientific way of describing qualitatively how people perceive phenomena around them [111–112]. At the time when the study was conducted the selected area was representative of Malmö as a whole as regards people with foreign background, the proportion of people in gainful employment, the form of housing tenure, income distribution, the proportion of recipients of social assistance, etc. In the interviews we did not include questions about socio-economic factors, which could be a limitation. Our results are not necessarily representative of the situation in the country as a whole, or the situation today. The study does nevertheless provide a valuable basis for discussion and reflection about how the work of child health care can be designed in the future.

Fathers and their children's health (Paper III)

When it came to *the care and upbringing of the child*, three out of four fathers in the past two weeks had played with their child and also put it to bed and bathed it. Other activities occurred less frequently. Fathers with one child were "better carers" than fathers with more than one child. Otherwise, there were no statistically significant differences, in doing four and more caring activities or in doing three or more playing activities between younger and older fathers, those with one or more than one child, or between blue-collar and white-collar fathers.

When asked who gets up at night if the child wakes, the most common answer was the alternative "both" (48%), followed by the "mother" (30%) and "father" (16%). Others (6%) answered, among other things, that the child slept with the parents or that the child came to the parents by itself during the night. When we asked who had the greatest say concerning the child, fathers most frequently chose the alternative "both" (56%), followed by the "mother" (42%) and "father" (2%). The vast majority of fathers (90%), however, felt that usually there were no differences within the family when it came to child rearing.

When it came to *the child's health and ill health*, the majority of fathers (82%) answered that they could state their child's birth weight; white-collar workers more so than blue-collar workers (89% vs 75%). The majority also knew whether the child was vaccinated (87%).

Four out of five fathers (82%) thought that their child's health was good, while the other 43 mentioned some health problem, mostly relatively mild problems. More white-collar workers stated that the child's health was good. Just over half of the fathers (55%) had at some time contacted a doctor because of the child's illness. When asked who they turn to when the child became acutely ill (in this case an attack of diarrhoea), in both daytime and night time, the fathers would turn first to the child's mother, who was said relatively often (approx. 20%) to have already taken action. As regards professional help, in the daytime the fathers primarily consulted their general practitioner (31%), while at night they chiefly contacted the emergency ward (39%) and the health information service (35%). There were no statistically significant differences in seeking professional help, neither daytime nor night time, between younger and older fathers, those with one child and those with more children, or between blue-collar and white-collar workers.

When it came to advice about how to prevent child accidents, as many as 135 (57%) fathers stated that they used their common sense, that they had experience of previous children, or that they had attended courses on child accidents and therefore did not need to turn to any outsider.

As regards the *role of father*, the most important things for the child's well-being were "security" (stated by 51% of the fathers), "love" (31%), and "commitment" (31%). The fathers believed that it was important for the children to feel secure in their home environment and their general surroundings, that the child had both parents present, and that there was harmony in the family. They mentioned the importance of parental commitment, and that the child received a lot of attention and felt needed.

The majority of the fathers had talked during the past year with one or more people about what it is like to be a father. Only 20 fathers (8%) answered "no", while 25 (11%) did not want to answer at all. There were no statistically significant differences, in either talking to the family or other relatives or to workmates or other friends, between younger and older fathers, between those with one child and those with more than one, or between blue-collar and white-collar workers.

Three of four fathers (72%) answered that they had read some book or magazine about children's health and upbringing. This was more common among fathers with only one child and among white-collar workers. Only slightly more than half of the fathers (54%) thought that they spent enough time with their children. Despite this, almost all the fathers (230/237; 97%) answered "yes" when asked if they were good fathers; six did not know and one father answered "No".

Finally, when we did the same analyses of only those fathers whose youngest child was born in 1999, 2000, or 2001 (189 fathers) three out of four statistically significant differences between white-collar and blue-collar workers disappeared. Otherwise the results remained the same.

Comments

Few studies have been conducted of fathers' views of their children's health. This study should be a useful addition to our knowledge of this. Our study examines 237 fathers' own involvement in, and attitudes to, their children's health and has revealed a number of new findings. The fathers state that they are involved to a large extent, and that they perform a lot of activities with their children.

It has previously been stated that fathers participate more in playing than in caring [124]. The child is felt to require more care than play during the first two

years, and the general perception has been that the mother is responsible for care, while the father is primarily the one who plays with the child. This become even more pronounced as the child grows older. In this study most of the children (80%) were aged 1–3.5 years which ought to have shifted the results more toward playing, but in our study an interesting finding is that the fathers state that they take at least the same part in caring activities as in playing activities. In line with earlier research [125], the fathers consider their own role important and manage it fairly well in the given circumstances of their economic responsibility for the family.

The strength of this study lies in the fact that it consisted of structured interviews conducted by jointly trained interviewers. The research leader performed almost half of the interviews. The participation rate is also relatively good, 237 out of 279 (85%).

Studies with the aim of investigating the involvement and participation of parents often attract those in good social circumstances. In this study we likewise have reason to assume that, among the 30 fathers who declined to take part and among the 12 who could not understand spoken Swedish, there were several with poor social circumstances. There were also more men living with the mother than the average for the entire population with children of this age (10% of the parents of 3-year-olds are divorced) [70]. Also, the 21 fathers who could not be reached might be different from the 237 that were interviewed.

Training programme for parents of teenagers (*Paper IV*)

The "parents' school" in Oxie was planned by 36 parents and a project leader at four meetings. The parents were allowed to suggest conceivable lecturers and received a list of relevant literature. The parents decided that four lectures should be held during the autumn. Group discussions were to be held immediately after these lectures. The aims of the parents' school were formulated by the parents:

- to reach parents who have or will soon have teenagers (the participation goal);
- to give them insight and knowledge about matters connected with the teenage phase (the knowledge goal);
- to work for strong and good relations between parents and teenagers (the relations goal);
- to create supportive environments and networks for parents in the neighbourhood (the contact and community goal).

Four lecture evenings on the following topics were arranged in autumn 1997:

- Why do some young people get into trouble while others do not?
- Teenagers and drugs what can one do as a parent?
- With united forces on attitudes to teenagers.
- What happens to a teenager? On teenage development and teenage identity.

Between 50 and 70 parents took part each evening. All the participants received a folder and a pen with "The Oxie Parents' School" logotype. After the lecture, the project leader divided the parents into groups, and in each group one of the parents was appointed to lead the discussions. Literature about young adolescents and parenthood was available. In addition, the parents were asked to complete a small questionnaire about how the evening had been. The results were compiled by the project leader and reported to the parents at the next lecture.

The three follow-up evenings were not well attended. A total of 18 parents and two teenagers took part in the first two, while the third had to be cancelled because too few people had registered. Evidently, many parents felt that the discussions on the lecture evenings were sufficient.

A questionnaire was completed by 44 women and 22 men. Most of them had children aged between 11 and 15. The majority (41) of the 53 participating parents stated that they had acquired greater knowledge and insight about how parents can handle everyday conflicts with their children and about what it is like to be a teenager. Forty-eight parents thought that the parents' school could help in the long term to strengthen relations between teenagers and parents. When it came to the opportunity to share other parents' experiences, the majority (47) of the parents were favourable. Most of the parents, however, had not been in contact with other parents outside the parents' school. Sixty-four parents thought that the parents' school should be continued, and 51 parents wished to take part in a continuation.

Comments

Only about 10% of the families with teenagers participated, and the response frequency to the questionnaire was only 63%, although those who responded seemed to be fairly representative of the inhabitants of the neighbourhood. Despite the limited number of parents who took part in the study, the process description and the questionnaire responses give valuable knowledge about how one can proceed with work on various activities aimed at parents. It may be thought that the planning phase took a long time, but it was necessary to give the parents the opportunity to work on their own terms and to participate right from the start.

While earlier parental training programmes, in Sweden [67, 126], as well as internationally [23, 28, 127–137], have primarily focused on parents of young children, the Oxie parents' school was aimed at parents of teenagers.

In health promotion work, such as ours, the research methods adopted must reflect the complexity of the work, and evidence of success must often be based on a much wider range of sources than the results of meta-analyses and systematic reviews of randomized controlled trials [138–139]. The research literature is lacking in evaluation of parenting classes as an intervention, and it is important that such research is done and reported [140]. It is not only important to establish evidence of what works in health promotion (i.e. outcome evaluation), but also to understand how and why these things have worked (i.e. process evaluation), so that success can be replicated [141]. Our study is a valuable contribution in this respect.

General discussion

Methodological considerations

Quantitative methods and qualitative methods complement each other. Although textual interpretation differs from statistical analysis, the underlying principles are much the same [142]. Qualitative methods are being used to an increasing extent in studies in family medicine and public health science. The reason for this is that these methods are suitable when the research questions concern phenomena such as experiences and values. They can be used, for example, to arrive at an understanding of self-perceived health and the encounter between people and professionals. Qualitative methods are descriptive, hypothesis-generating or interpretative [143–145].

The studies in this thesis have been performed using both qualitative and quantitative methods. The method in Paper I is a form of discourse analysis. This examines the construction of written and verbal accounts and language/vocabulary employed [108–109]. This method therefore suited the context well when we studied selected texts about the development and work of child health care. Alternating with different kinds of texts and different periods was toilsome but necessary for a reflexive interpretation. Our ambition was not to find a truth or any causal connections; instead we tried to gain an understanding of the development of work with child health care in Sweden.

In Paper II we used phenomenography, a well-documented scientific method for describing individuals' perceptions [111–112]. This qualitative method is particularly appropriate for describing subjective perceptions and values, and for complex situations where it is uncertain which aspects can be significant in the context [111–112, 146–147]. The method was highly time-consuming but it was chosen because we wanted an increased understanding of work with child health care. In our study we wanted more profound and nuanced knowledge of the experiences and perceptions of parents and staff, as regards both individual and group-based contact with child health care.

In paper III we used a structured telephone interview questionnaire which was analysed with quantitative methods. By putting questions directly to the fathers and not posting the questionnaire we were able to avoid having them ask the mothers; they themselves gave immediate answers to our questions. In our study the fathers said they do things with their children, but we have no evidence that they really do so. However, in view of the personal telephone contact with the fathers and the continuity with accustomed interviewers, the chances should be good

Ann-Christine Hallberg

that they answered truthfully. But we are aware that the results could have been different if we had made observations of the fathers and their children in everyday life. In our subgroup analyses we found few statistically significant differences between younger and older fathers, between those with only one child and those with more than one or between white-collar and blue-collar workers. The reason for this may be that there are no large differences between these groups in Swedish society. But there may also be methodological explanations; our groupings of the fathers were quite crude, and our study population could have been larger. However, interviewing almost 250 fathers took quite a long time since we often had to ring repeatedly before we managed to contact a particular father. Nor was it easy to find a suitable time for the interview. Many interviews had to be held late in the evening when the children had gone to bed. Conducting in-depth interviews at times agreed in advance would have been one alternative, but it would have been much more time-consuming to travel round the whole of Skåne interviewing fathers. We did not have enough resources for that.

Studies have shown that programmes which, for example, take implementation factors into consideration work well in practice. So too do programmes in the form of short-level interventions for delivering factual information and fact-based advice to parents [55]. Paper IV describes a parental education programme for parents of teenagers, which can be regarded as a form of health-promotion work. In this work, the research methods adopted must reflect the complexity of the work. Evidence must often be based on a much wider range of sources. Knowing the parents' motives for participating and their perception of participation is important for future programme development [23, 55, 148-150]. It was quite easy to describe how planning and implementation were carried out ("process evaluation"). Otherwise, it was more difficult to measure whether the "parents' school" fulfilled the goals set up by the parents themselves. The work went on for a relatively short period of time, whereas the formulated goals were mainly long-term. Nevertheless an attempt at an analysis of the goals was made. Programmes are dynamic and context-bound [151–152]. The information one obtains through evaluation should be useful when it comes to understanding how programmes are designed, implemented, and modified, both local and generalizable knowledge. In this respect the method was appropriate for the purpose.

Responsibility for children's health and welfare

The influence of Swedish society on parenthood has taken different expressions in the course of history (Papers I–II). From 1930s to the end of 1960s children's health and well-being were considered to be the duty of society, to ensure that parents were influenced to give children good food and clothes and to bring them up in the "proper" way. Public authorities wanted to take more active responsibility for children's health, upbringing, and development [153]. Parents were to be educated to become professional parents. Mothers above all were the target group of this parental education. But parental education was just a complement to the role of the state in children's development and upbringing. The greatest responsibility was expected to lie with professionals such as school and child health care [154]. This view of social responsibility also existed in the 1970s and the 80s, even if the individual responsibility was increasingly emphasized (Paper I). Through education one should strengthen the parents' competence regarding the child's health and care. A report on parental education was presented in 1978 [67] and later a final report [126].

Since the 1990s the individual responsibility for the child's health has been heavily emphasized (Paper I). In 1997 an inquiry on parental education published its report in which the term "parental education" was replaced by "support in parenthood" [71]. It was stressed there that society is responsible for giving parents support in parenthood, while responsibility for children's welfare is shared by everyone. When there are indications of deficiencies in the care of the child, it is wholly legitimate to act for the good of the child in accordance with the Social Services Act (SOL), the Care of Young Persons (Special Provisions) Act (LVU), the Code relating to Parents, Guardians and Children (FB), and the Convention on the Rights of the Child. The inquiry stresses the importance of new forms of networks and possibilities for meeting places for today's parents. It is the task of society to create forums for meetings between parents and experts for discussion of topics such as child rearing and norms and values associated with this. Society should also provide information about children's different phases and their need for care and love. There is special emphasis on strengthening parents and utilizing their own competence. It is clear, however, that the ultimate aim is also to prevent problems which could otherwise afflict children. If a child is to develop favourably, society has the responsibility to support parents and parents have an obligation to give children good conditions in which to grow up.

Direct support to parents of small children, expanded parental education, and specially directed preventive efforts in the pre-school years are held up in today's Sweden as being very important for children's health [3]. But at the same time as this social commitment is emphasized, parents are expected to obtain more and more knowledge on their own and get help when they need it. So the question whether who has the real responsibility for the child's health and welfare is still of immediate interest.

Present need of parental support in Sweden

During the last decade there has been increasing talk of the parents' living habits as being crucial for children's development and health [60, 68].

In Sweden the composition and living conditions of the family have changed in recent decades. Single parents find their economy increasingly strained. An increase in unemployment in recent years contributes to an even more distressing situation for many parents and children. While physical health has improved, mental ill health has increased. In other words, a diversity of factors both inside and outside the family determine how parents and children feel and what support they need [11]. Not all parents need special support in their parenthood. Many cope with their parental role without any problem, while others may feel insecure and bewildered as parents.

Who decides what needs the parents have and in what form support should be offered? If we look at the situation in Sweden, we see that the majority of the support offered to parents is initiated and planned by official institutions and authorities from a top-down perspective. In our second study (Paper II) this perspective was expressed in the form of a discrepancy between policy and practice. It was found that there are differences in the parents' and staff's perceptions and expectations of child health care. In addition, this perspective is also reflected in the individual nurse, in the sense that there are traces of a difference between what she feels she can and ought to do and what the instructions say that she should do. There is a natural contradiction in child health care between parents' individual needs and the public interest, ultimately represented by the care measures, the clinic, and the staff. It is as if they were "children of society", one parent said. The fact that the work of child health care increasingly tends to concern the psychosocial area and that roles and tasks have been expanded (cf. our Paper I) means that it has become increasingly important to reflect on how much one should intervene in the family's private sphere.

Not all parents are interested in support in groups, or they have a private situation which makes them unable to take part in the group activities offered. This must be respected. Individual supportive activities should therefore never cease (Paper II). It has happened that parents have felt pressed to take part in parental education in order not to be labelled as "bad parents". All interference in parenthood violates the parents' self-determination. It has been claimed that two requirements of parental support should be that there is agreement that the measure promotes children's health and welfare and that the measure is voluntary [39]. Although measures on behalf of parents show greater humility, it has been pointed out that interference occurs as soon as an expert or a public authority pronounces on how one should treat one's children [155–156]. The parents' school in Oxie (Paper IV) showed consideration for the parents' own perceived need of support and information regarding their teenagers.

Fathers too need support. This is shown in Paper III. The interviewed fathers stated that they sometimes spoke with other adults about what it is like to be a father. The profound involvement they displayed in the child's health and upbringing shows that the organizations that offer parental support today should ensure to a greater extent that fathers are also able to take part in the activities initiated.

A recently presented report from the Institute of Public Health suggests new forms of parental support [39]. Today support is offered not only by county councils and municipalities but also by voluntary and private actors. As regards arenas for parental support, we consider it important to think from a parental perspective (Paper II). How do we create arenas which are also accessible for the fathers (Paper III) or for persons from unfavourable social backgrounds? The parent group activities of child health care involve far from all parents. In our experience, the older the children grow, the more parents need to meet, and therefore it is important to establish new arenas for this kind of support. In the project with the parents' school in Oxie (Paper IV) it was noted that many parents thought that there was greater need for support when the child started school. One may also ask whether parental support should really be arranged in the settings which simultaneously have a controlling function, and in the case of school also a grade-awarding function. It cannot be taken for granted that parents in need and in vulnerable situations find it easy or desirable to seek support in places like this.

General or directed parental support

Some parental support in Sweden is directed towards parents with children who have special needs, and some support is geared to parents in general [39]. It is important that both forms continue to exist in the future and can complement each other. A Swedish study from 2004 stresses the importance of designing parental support programmes for the future which are geared to socially disfavoured groups such as immigrants and single parents [82]. However, another study from 2005 provides some findings that contradict the well-known association between high socio-economic status and favourable outcome. There were no associations between high socio-economic status and high-quality interaction or low child difficulty. The few significant differences in fact favoured the low-status children [157].

Many parents who have difficulty for various reasons, in the family situation or in their parental role, prefer to seek and accept help of a general kind. We were able to see this clearly in the study of the parents' school in Oxie (Paper IV). Here the parents could assimilate what felt relevant to them at that moment, without their problems being stigmatized. Being able to come without any conditions and obtaining information in one's own way, and making new contacts on one's own, was perceived as very valuable by many parents.

When it comes to reaching broad groups of parents, it is important to take cultural aspects into consideration (Paper II). Through the years we have met many immigrant parents who do not feel at home in the parental support activities that are offered. Being a newcomer with different traditions of child rearing, and lacking a firm social foundation in addition, makes it hard to feel at home in a parents' group. Alternatives must be created to involve these parents. When it comes to open pre-school, we see how many parents with a different cultural background take part in the supportive activities. A possible reason for this may be that many have no employment or occupation and in this case have a place to meet and exchange experience with other adults.

With regard to the fathers, one can discuss whether there should be groups purely for them. It was evident from Paper III that fathers stressed how important it was for both parents to be involved and participate in care and upbringing.

Design of parental support

People doing social and health-promotive work constantly have to grapple with the concept of "evidence-based" practice. But it is not always relevant to have control groups when evaluating programmes that take place in a broad social context, which are moreover perceived rather uniquely by each parent. Programmes of a health-promotive nature are often not designed as a response to a specific problem. They are defined instead as "a process for initiating, managing and implementing changes" [158]. There are things that can help parents in a troublesome situation, without having been scientifically proven. It is important to look at what the real purpose of the offered activity is and to decide on an evaluation method according to the type of intervention (Paper II).

Activity in certain programmes cannot be measured solely in objective and positivist terms. One must distinguish between programmes which seek specific effects, such as changed behaviour, and programmes which are intended more to function as supportive environments and for parents in general. In our experience, the latter type of programme is easier for parents to accept if they are in some kind of crisis and need support and opportunities to discuss with other adults/parents. The parents' school in Oxie (Paper IV) was an example of supportive activity which the parents found significant without having a strong scientific design. The process description we performed could be used to determine how the programme was implemented, what activities were offered, in what circumstances, to whom, and with what degree of exertion, and it contributed to both control and assurance of quality of practice [159].

Implications for clinical practice and future research

Our research shows that in future parental support activities one should include the parents right from the planning and implementation stage (Papers I, II, III, IV). Otherwise there is a risk of constructing programmes which the experts believe in, while the parents feel uncertain about the purpose and may get the impression that they are being controlled.

There is a need to clarify the conditions for developing methods of parental support in child health care. There are differing expectations of the purpose and orientation of parental groups (Paper II). This also applies to parental support in general, and especially the fathers' needs should be highlighted and studied (Paper III). Individual parental support and group-based support complement each other.

It is not possible to propose one specific model of parental education. Alternatives should exist. It is important here to look at the purpose of the support; to teach skills in order to change behaviour or create understanding. It is essential to proceed from the parents' self-perceived needs (Papers II, III, IV).

In the development of future parental support, long-term work is more important than many different short projects if one wants a good evaluation (Paper IV). Our study of a "parents' school" showed that, just when the parents felt involved and interested in the activity, it was stopped.

More research is needed about immigrant parents' experience of participation in parental support measures (Paper II), and about the fathers' view of parenthood and their children's health, and their experiences of child health care. The results of our study of fathers (Paper III) yielded new knowledge about fathers' perceptions of their children's health which can be valuable for future planning of support for parents.

Conclusions

It is difficult to translate policy recommendations into practice. One reason is the shifting focus in child health care from the child's physical health to psychosocial problems, and another reason is the transition from unambiguously described measures in terms of paternalistic regulation to a more participatory and expansive definition of roles and responsibilities (Paper I).

There is a conflict between parents' need for security and their need for integrity. Individual nurses experience a conflict between what they want to do and what they feel they have to do. The parents view parental education as a chance to exchange experiences with other parents and receive support from other adults, while the nurses mainly see it as an opportunity to inform parents (Paper II).

Fathers are involved to a large extent in the care and upbringing of their children. They have a good picture of the child's health. The majority feel that they are "good fathers", although only just over half think that they have enough time for their children. New forms of family support including the fathers on equal terms can be designed and researched (Paper III).

It is possible to involve parents in both the planning and the implementation of parental support activities. The majority of the parents are content with their participation and want the activities to continue. The goals the parents set up are visionary and long-term, showing that this type of project must be given time to grow and that it is important that parents' wishes and opinions are considered right from the beginning (Paper IV).

Sammanfattning på svenska

I Sverige betonas idag alltmer det hälsofrämjande arbetet riktat mot barn, ungdomar och deras föräldrar. Olika föräldrastödsaktiviteter erbjuds. Det behövs ökad kunskap om varför vissa aktiviteter fungerar bättre än andra. Det är även viktigt att känna till föräldrarnas motiv för att deltaga och upplevelser av stödaktiviteten. Syftet med denna avhandling var att belysa aspekter på föräldrastöd i Sverige från ett föräldra- och personalperspektiv i förhållande till samhällsutveckling och ett förändrat hälsoproblempanorama.

I den första studien (I) ville vi synliggöra huvudlinjerna i den svenska barnhälsovårdens utveckling. Studien baserades på ett urval av texter/offentliga dokument rörande barnhälsovården från 1930-talet fram till idag och den tillämpade metoden var en form av diskursanalys.

Vid genomläsning av texterna identifierades fyra perioder i barnhälsovårdens utveckling. Under den första perioden (hygien och ordning – barnreformernas tid, 1930-tal och 40-tal) var barnhälsovårdens främsta uppgift, vid sidan om att kontrollera barnets utveckling, att informera och utbilda mödrarna medan insatserna under den andra perioden (profylax och optimism, 1950-tal och 60-tal) blev mera generella i form av förebyggande arbete och vaccinationsprogram. Hälsoövervakning för att identifiera risker och upptäcka avvikelser och handikapp blev det primära. Under den tredje perioden (sviktande nätverk och omsorg, 1970-tal och 80tal) var insatserna såväl generella (hälsofrämjande arbete, hälsovård för förskolebarn, föräldrautbildning) som selektiva (identifikation av hälsorelaterade och sociala riskgrupper) och arbetet inriktades alltmer på att övervaka föräldrarnas skötsel av barnet. Föräldrarna skulle få stöd att hantera sina problem själva. Under perioden härefter (kostnadseffektivitet och nedrustning, 1990-tal och 2000-tal) inriktades arbetet alltmer mot barnets omgivning och familjen som helhet, och barnhälsovården definieras som en institution som skall stärka föräldrarnas självförtroende och kompetens.

Under de två första perioderna dominerade ett kollektivt ansvar för barns hälsa. Barns hälsa och välbefinnande ansågs vara en uppgift för samhället. Även under den tredje perioden noterades detta kollektiva ansvar även om införandet av en föräldrautbildning gjorde att ansvaret alltmer tillskrevs föräldrarna. Från och med period fyra ses hälsa som en individuell resurs som det är den enskilda individens ansvar att sköta, och barnhälsovårdens uppgift blir att påverka föräldrarna och stödja en hälsosam livsstil. Barnhälsovården får en expertroll och skall finnas till hands när föräldrarna själva söker stöd.

I den andra studien (II) ville vi beskriva hur föräldrar och personal tänker kring innehållet i barnhälsovårdens arbete, för att identifiera överensstämmelser och skillnader i synsätt. Data samlades in genom intervjuer och analyserades enligt fenomenografisk metod. Vi studerade förväntningar på innehållet i den individuella konsultationen inom barnhälsovården, samt i den gruppbaserade föräldrautbildningen. Sextio föräldrar, fjorton sjuksköterskor och sex doktorer intervjuades.

Såväl föräldrarna som personalen betonade två uppgifter som särskilt viktiga inom barnhälsovårdens arbete: stöd och hälsokontroller. Det fanns en motsättning mellan föräldrarnas behov av stöd och deras behov av integritet. Den enskilda sjuksköterskan upplevde motsättning mellan vad hon ville göra och vad hon kände att hon måste göra. Föräldrarna såg föräldrautbildningen som en möjlighet att utbyta erfarenheter med och få stöd av andra vuxna, medan personalen huvudsakligen såg utbildningen som en möjlighet att informera föräldrar och stärka dem i deras föräldraroll. Studien visade således på en diskrepans mellan policy och praktik i barnhälsovården.

Det finns ingen rutin att ta med fäder i studier om tidig barndom trots att forskare upprepade gånger betonat vikten av deras engagemang för sina barn från barndomen till vuxen ålder. Fäderna deltar också i mindre omfattning i de föräldrastödjande aktiviteter som erbjuds föräldrar idag. För att öka kunskapen om fäders uppfattning om och engagemang i sina barns hälsa genomfördes *den tredje studien (III)*. Per telefon intervjuades 237 småbarnsfäder i Skåne. Intervjuerna var strukturerade och berörde familjesituationen, deltagandet i barnets skötsel, uppfattningen om barnets hälsa samt rollen som pappa.

Fäderna angav att de i hög grad var involverade och engagerade i sina barn. Tre av fyra hade under de senaste två veckorna såväl lekt med barnet som nattat och badat sitt barn. Fyra av fem fäder (81 %) menade att deras barn hade god hälsa, medan övriga 43 tog upp något hälsoproblem. Här fanns mest relativt lindriga problem som infektionskänslighet och allergi, men också enstaka mera allvarliga åkommor. Drygt hälften av fäderna hade någon gång kontaktat läkare på grund av sjukdom hos barnet. Drygt hälften av fäderna (55 %) hade någon gång kontaktat läkare på grund av sjukdom hos barnet.

Det viktigaste för att barnet skall må bra är "trygghet" (angivet av 51 % av fäderna), "kärlek" (31 %) och "engagemang" (31 %). Tre av fyra fäder svarade att de läst någon bok eller tidskrift om barns hälsa och uppfostran. Endast drygt hälften av fäderna tyckte att de tillbringade tillräckligt med tid tillsammans med sitt barn. Trots detta svarade nästan alla (230/237) "ja" på frågan om de var en god pappa.

De flesta föräldrautbildningsprogram, såväl nationellt som internationellt, är riktade till småbarnsföräldrar och har initierats och planerats från centralt håll. *I den fjärde studien (IV)* beskriver vi den process varigenom föräldrar till tonårsbarn utvecklade och implementerade sin egen "föräldraskola". Vi presenterar även resultaten av den enkät, där föräldrarna fick ge sina synpunkter på utbildningsprogrammet.

En "Föräldraskola" planerades av 36 föräldrar och en projektledare. Mellan 14 och 26 föräldrar deltog i 4 planeringsmöten. Fyra föreläsningskvällar, inklusive gruppdiskussioner, arrangerades. Sammanlagt 105 föräldrar anmälde sitt intresse för att deltaga i verksamheten och mellan 50 och 70 kom till varje föreläsningskväll.

Fyrtiofyra kvinnor och 22 män besvarade enkäten. Majoriteten av föräldrarna rapporterade att de varit nöjda med verksamheten och att de fått kunskap och insikt om tonårstiden. De ville även att "Föräldraskolan" skulle fortsätta. Föräldrarnas egna målsättningar med verksamheten föreföll visionära och långsiktiga.

Sammanfattningsvis visar avhandlingen att det inte är möjligt att föreslå en enda specifik modell för föräldrautbildning. Vid utformningen av framtida föräldrastöd bör man ta med föräldrarna i planering och implementering. Långsiktiga projekt är viktigare än många kortsiktiga för att kunna få fram bra utvärdering. Det är viktigt att klargöra förutsättningarna är för att utveckla metoder för föräldrastöd i barnhälsovården. Särskilt bör fädernas behov synliggöras och studeras.

Acknowledgements

I wish to express my warmest gratitude to all those who in various ways have contributed to this thesis, and particularly to:

- Professor Anders Håkansson, my head tutor, for encouragement and enormous support, constructive criticism, and most of all great patience.
- Professor Lennart Råstam, co-tutor, for welcoming me to the Department and for greatly encouraging my work.
- Senior Lecturer Eva Lindbladh, co-tutor, for valuable guidance in the field of qualitative analysis.
- Dr Robert Kristiansson, Dr Anders Beckman, and Senior Lecturer Kerstin Petersson, my co-authors, for help and support and encouragement.
- Senior Lecturers Margareta Troein-Töllborn, Nils-Ove Månsson, and Jerker Liljestrand for encouraging my work.
- Ms Kerstin Troein and Ms Gunilla Juul for their invaluable professional support and administrative help with the studies.
- Ms Eva Ekwall-Hansson and Dr Ann-Christin Haffling for their encouragement.
- Ms Ulla Pettersson and Ms Ewy Rundqvist for their friendship and encouragement.
- Dr Alan Crozier for professional copy-editing of the articles and of the thesis as a whole.
- Ms Izabella Hallberg for professional copy-editing of some of the articles.
- Ms Birgitta Larsson and her colleagues at the Medical Library at Malmö University Hospital for excellent service and help with literature.
- Senior Lecturer Sven Bremberg and Professor Claes Sundelin for interesting and valuable discussions about parental support and child health care in Sweden.
- All my colleagues in the counsellors' group in Primary Care Skåne Southwest, who encouraged me to finish my thesis.
- Ms Ann-Margrethe Svensson, my dear twin sister, who has always shown her appreciation for my work.
- Mr Roger Jarnehall, my nephew, who has also encouraged me.
- Last but not least, my beloved daughter Anna and my darling husband Thomas, who have always encouraged me in my work. Without your wonderful support, this thesis would never have been finished!

This thesis was supported by the Council for Medical Health Care Research in Southern Sweden, Research and Development Primary Care in Skåne and Scania County Council's research and development foundation.

References

- 1 Ottawa Charter for Health Promotion. Ottawa: World Health Organisation, Health and Welfare Canada, Canadian Public Health Association, 1986.
- 2 Rönquist A. Mänskliga rättigheter: Konventionen om barnets rättigheter. Stockholm. Utrikesdepartementet, 1990.
- 3 Ågren G. Den nya folkhälsopolitiken: Nationella mål för folkhälsan. Stockholm: Statens folkhälsoinstitut, 2003.
- 4 Hogstedt C, Lundgren B, Moberg H, Pettersson B, Ågren G. The Swedish public health policy and the National Institute of Public Health. Scand J Public Health 2004;64:6–64.
- 5 Peri, G, Molinari, E, Taverna A. Parental perceptions of childhood illness. Journal of Asthma 1991; 28:91–101.
- 6 Socialdepartementet. Statens offentliga utredningar. Gör barn till medborgare! Om barn och demokrati under 1900-talet. Demokratiutredningens skrift nr 4. Stockholm: Socialdepartementet, 1998. (SOU 1998:97).
- 7 Thompson RA. Early attachment and later development. In: Cassidy J, Shaver PR, eds. Handbook of attachment: Theory, research, and clinical applications. New York: Guilford Press, 1999, 265–86.
- 8 Fogany P. Patterns of attachment, interpersonal relationships and health. In: Blane D, Brunner E, Wilkinson R, eds., Health and social organization. London: Routledge, 1996: 125–51.
- 9 Bakermans-Krankenburg MJ, van Ijzendorn M, Juffer F. Less is more: Meta-analysis of sensitivity and attachment interventions in early childhood. Psychol Bull 2003; 129: 195–215.
- 10 Greenberg MT. Attachment and psychopathology in childhood. In: Cassidy J, Shaver PR, eds., Handbook of attachment: Theory, research, and clinical applications. New York: Guilford Press, 1999: 469–96.
- 11 Hagelin E, Magnusson M, Sundelin C. Barnhälsovård. Stockholm: Liber, 2001.
- 12 Lyons-Ruth K, Jacobvitz D. Attachment disorganization. Unresolved loss. Relational violence, and lapses in behavioural and attentional strategies. In: Cassidy J, Shaver PR, eds. Handbook of attachment: Theory, research, and clinical applications. New York: Guilford Press, 1999, 520–554.
- 13 Bohlin G. Tidig anknytning betydelse för utveckling och hälsa. In: Socialdepartementet, Röster om barns och ungdomars psykiska hälsa. Delbetänkande av Barnpsykiatrikommittén. Stockholm: Socialdepartementet, 1997.
- 14 Cederblad M. Från barndom till vuxenliv: En översikt av longitudinell forskning. Stockholm: Centrum för utvärdering av socialt arbete, 2003.

- 15 Power C, Peckham C. Childhood morbidity and adulthood ill health. J Epidemiol Community Health 1990; 44: 69–74.
- 16 Harrington R, Fudge H, Rutter M, Pickles A, Hill J. Adult outcomes of childhood and adolescent depression, I: Psychiatric status. Arch Gen Psychiatr 1990; 47: 465–73.
- 17 Kelin RG, Manuzza S. Long-term outcome of hyperactive children: A review. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatr 1991; 30: 383–7.
- 18 Robins L. Continuities and discontinuities in the psychiatric disorders of children. In: Mechanic D, ed. Handbook of health, health care, and the health professions. New York: Free Press, 1983.
- 19 Wolf S, Townshend R, McGuire RJ, Weeks DJ. "Schizoid" personality in childhood and adult life, II: adult adjustment and the continuity with schizotypal personality disorder. Br J Psychiatr 1991; 159: 620–9 & 634–5.
- 20 Manzano J, Laufer D, Borella E, et al. Continuity and discontinuity of psychopathology: a study of patients examined as children and adults, III: the infancy of adult personality disorders. Schweiz Arch Neurol Psychiatr 1994; 145: 13–7.
- 21 Hoghughi M. The importance of parenting in child health doctors as well as the government should do more to support parents. BMJ 1998; 316: 1545.
- 22 Antonowsky A. The salutogenic model as a theory to guide health promotion. Health Promotion International 1996; 11:11–18.
- 23 Dembo MH, Sweitzer M, Lauritzen P. An evaluation of group parent education: Behavorial, PET and Adlerian programs. Rev Educ Res 1985; 55: 155–200.
- 24 Hess RD. Experts and amateurs: Some unintended consequences of parent education. In: Fantini M, Cardenas R, eds. Parenting in a multicultural society. New York: Longman, 1980, 3–16.
- 25 Durlak JA. Successful prevention programs for children and adolescents. New York: Plenum, 1997.
- 26 Olsson I, Hagekull B, Bremberg S. Stöd till föräldrar för att främja barns och ungdomars psykiska hälsa. En systematisk forskningsöversikt. Stockholm: Statens folkhälsoinstitut, 2003. (Rapport 2003:20).
- 27 Webster-Stratton C, Taylor T. Nipping early risk factors in the bud: preventing substance abuse, delinquency, and violence in adolescence through interventions targeted at young children (0–8 years). Prev Sci 2001; 2: 165–92.
- 28 Barlow J, Stewart-Brown S. Behaviour problems and group-based parent education programs. J Dev Behav Pediatr 2000; 21: 356–70.
- 29 Bremberg S. Hur kan förskolan förbättra barns psykiska hälsa? Stockholm: Statens folkhälsoinstitut, 2001.
- 30 Ferrer-Wreder L, Stattin H. Vad kan man göra i familjen för att förhindra ungdomsvåld och kriminalitet? Stockholm: BRÅ, 2001.

- 31 Schaffer H. Social development: An introduction. Oxford: Blackwell, 1996.
- 32 Orford J. Community psychology: Theory and practice. Chichester: Wiley, 1992.
- 33 Cohen S, Underwood LG, Gottlieb BJ, eds., Social support measurement and intervention: A guide for health and social scientists. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2000.
- 34 Russek LG, Schwartz GE. Perceptions of parental caring predict health status in midlife: A 35-year follow-up of the Harvard mastery of stress study. Psychosom Med 1997; 59: 144–9.
- 35 Gagnon A. Individual or group antenatal education for childbirth/parenthood (Cochrane Review). Oxford: Cochrane Library, 2004.
- 36 Sanford M, Byrne C, Williams S, Atley S, Miller J, Allin H. A pilot study of a parent-education group for families affected by depression. Can J Psychiatry 2003; 48: 78–86.
- 37 Telleen S, Herzog A, Kilbane TL. Impact of a family support program on mothers' social support and parenting stress. Am J Orthopsychiatry 1989; 59: 410–9.
- 38 Lewis MA, Hatton CL, Salas I, Leake B, Chiofalo N. Impact of the children's epilepsy program on parents. Epilepsia 1991; 32: 365–74.
- 39 Bremberg S. Nya verktyg för föräldraförslag till nya former av föräldrastöd. Stockholm: Statens folkhälsoinstitut, 2004.
- 40 Cunningham CE, Bremner R, Boyle M. Large group community-based parenting programs for families of preschoolers at risk for disruptive behaviour disorders: Utilization, cost effectiveness, and outcome. J Child Psychol Psychiatry 1995; 36: 1141–59.
- 41 Patterson J, Barlow J, Mockford C, Klimes I, Pyper C, Stewart-Brown S, Improving mental health through parenting programmes: Block randomised controlled trial. Arch Dis Child 2002; 87: 472–7.
- 42 Taylor TK, Schmidt F, Pepler D, Hodgins C. A comparison of eclectic treatment with Webster-Stratton's parents and children series in a children's mental health center: A randomized controlled trial. Behav Ther 1998; 29: 221–40.
- 43 Tucker S, Gross D, Fogg L, Delaney K, Lapporte R. The long-term efficacy of a behavioural parent training intervention for families with 2-year-olds. Res Nurs Health 1998; 21: 199–210.
- 44 Webster-Stratton C. Teaching mothers through videotape modeling to change their children's behaviour. J Pediatr Psychol 1982; 7: 279–94.
- 45 Webster-Stratton C. Randomized trial of two parent-training programs for families with conduct-disordered children. J Consult Clin Psychol 1984; 52: 666–78.
- 46 Webster-Stratton C, Hammond M. Treating children with early-onset conduct problems: A comparison of child and parent training interventions. J

Consult Clin Psychol 1997; 65: 93–109.

- 47 Patterson GR, Chamberlain P, Reid JB. A comparative evaluation of a parent-training program. Behav Ther 1982; 13: 638–50.
- 48 Sanders MR, Markie-Dadds C, Tully LA, Bor W. The triple P positive parenting program: a comparison of enhanced, standard, and self-directed behavioural family intervention for parents of children with early onset conduct problems. J Consult Clin Psychol 2000; 68: 624–40.
- 49 Schuhmann EM, Foote RC, Eyberg SM, Boggs SR, Algina J. Efficacy of parent-child interaction therapy: Interim report of a randomized trial with short-term maintenance. J Clin Child Psychol 1998; 27: 34–45.
- 50 Webster-Stratton C. Enhancing the effectiveness of self-administered videotape parent training for families with conduct-problem children. J Abnorm Child Psychol 1990; 18: 479–92
- 51 Barlow J, Parsons J. Group-based parent-training programmes for improving emotional and behavioural adjustment in 0–3 year old children. The Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2003 (1): CD003680.
- 52 Barrera M Jr, Biglan A, Taylor TK, Gunn BK, Smolkowski K, Black C, et al. Early elementary school intervention to reduce conduct problems: A randomized trial with Hispanic and non-Hispanic children. Prev Sci 2002; 3: 83–94.
- 53 Martinez CR Jr, Forgatch MS. Preventing problems with boys' noncompliance: effects of a parent training intervention for divorcing mothers. J Consult Clin Psychol 2001; 69: 416–28.
- 54 Wolchik SA, Sandler IN, Millsap RE, Plummer BA, Greene SM, Anderson ER, et al. Six-year follow-up of preventive interventions for children of divorce: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA 2002; 288: 1874–81.
- 55 Moran P, Ghate D, van der Merwe A. What works in parenting support? A review of the international evidence. NO RB574. London: Dept of Education and skills; 2004. www.dfes.gov.uk.
- 56 Innocenti Report. Card no. 6. Child poverty in rich countries 2005.
- 57 The European health report 2005. Public health action for healthier children and populations. Copenhagen: WHO Europe.
- 58 Young people's health in context. Health Behaviour in school-aged children (HBSC) study. International report from the 2001/2002 survey. Copenhagen: WHO Europe; 2004.
- 59 Bremberg S. Sociala skillnader i ohälsa bland barn och ungdom i Sverige. Stockholm: Statens folkhälsoinstitut, 2002.
- 60 Medicinska forskningsrådet. Barnhälsovårdens betydelse för barns hälsa en analys av möjligheter och begränsningar i ett framtidsperspektiv. A state of the art document. Stockholm: Medicinska forskningsrådet, 1999.
- 61 Socialstyrelsen. Folkhälsorapport. Stockholm 2005.
- 62 Statistiska Centralbyrån. Upp till 18 fakta om barn och ungdom.

Barnombudsmannen rapporterar BR2004:06. Stockholm 2004.

- 63 Socialdepartementet. Kommittén Välfärdsbokslut. Barn och ungdomars välfärd. Antologi. Stockholm: Socialdepartementet 2001 (SOU 2001:55).
- 64 Angel B, Hjern A. Att möta flyktingar. Lund: Studentlitteratur; 2004.
- 65 Socialdepartementet. Ekonomiskt utsatta barn. Stockholm: Socialdepartementet, 2004. (SOU 2004:41).
- 66 Näringsdepartementet. Nya livet. Stockholm: Näringsdepartementet, 2002.
- 67 Socialdepartementet. Barnomsorgsgruppen. Föräldrautbildning 1. Kring barnets födelse. Stockholm: Socialdepartementet, 1978. (SOU:1978:5).
- 68 Socialdepartementet. Barn här och nu. Stockholm: Socialdepartementet, 2000.
- 69 Hjort T, Salonen, T. Knapphetens boningar: Om fattiga barnfamiljers boende och ekonomi. Lund: Socialhögskolan, 2000. (Meddelanden från Socialhögskolan 2000:8).
- 70 Statistiska centralbyrån. Barn och deras familjer 2000. Stockholm: Statistiska centralbyrån, 2002. (Demografiska rapporter 2002:2).
- 71 Socialdepartementet. Stöd i föräldraskapet. Stockholm: Socialdepartementet, 1997. (SOU 1997:161).
- 72 Socialdepartementet. Regeringsbeslut 12, S2001/6077/ST, 2001–06–20: Uppdrag att samla in och analysera och sprida kunskap om hur föräldrastöd kan utformas. Stockholm: Socialdepartementet, 2001.
- 73 Socialdepartementet. Kartläggning av föräldrautbildningen. Stockholm: Socialdepartementet, 1997. (SOU 1997:6).
- 74 Forrest CB, Simpson L, Clancy C. Child health services research: Challenges and opportunities. JAMA 1997; 277: 1787–93.
- 75 Socialdepartementet. Det gäller livet: Stöd till barn och ungdomar med psykiska problem. Stockholm: Socialdepartementet, 1998. (SOU 1998:31).
- 76 Bremberg S. Bättre hälsa för barn och ungdom: En strategi för de sämst ställda. Stockholm: Folkhälsoinstitutet, 1999.
- Sundelin C, Magnusson M, Lagerberg D. Child health services in transition: 1. Theories, methods and launching. Acta Paediatrica, 2005;94:329–336.
- 78 Arborelius E. Rökfria barn: En handledning för sjuksköterskor på BVC om att prata rökning med föräldrar. Cancerfonden, Stockholm 1995.
- 79 Sundelin S, Håkansson A. The importance of the Child Health Services to the health of children. Summary of the state of the art document from the Sigtuna conference on Child Health Services with a view to the future. Acta Paediatr Suppl 434: 76–79. 2000.
- 80 Socialstyrelsen. Hälsovård för mödrar och barn inom primärvården. Stockholm: Socialstyrelsen, 1981. (Allmänna råd från Socialstyrelsen 1981:4)
- 81 Socialstyrelsen. Skydda skyddsnätet! En utredning om barnhälsovårdens funktion och uppgifter under 90-talet. Stockholm: Socialstyrelsen, 1992.

- 82 Petersson K, Petersson C, Håkansson A. What is good parental education? Interviews with parents who have attended parental education sessions. Scand J Caring Sci 2004; 18: 82–89.
- 83 Plantin L. Mäns föräldraskap: Om mäns upplevelser och erfarenhet av faderskapet. Göteborg: Göteborgs universitet 2001. (Thesis).
- 84 Cvetkovic E. Föräldrarnas definition och värdering av sina små barns hälsa och aktiva deltagande i vardagslivet. Delprojekt 3: Små barns hälsa 2002. Mälardalens högskola. Eskilstuna 2002.
- 85 Andalibi Andersson L, Hagekull B, Bremberg S. Föräldrastöd i Sverige år 2002. Delrapport från regeringsuppdraget föräldrastöd. Stockholm: Statens Folkhälsoinstitut, 2003. (Rapport nr 2003:08).
- 86 Patterson GR, Littman RA, Bricker W. Assertive behavior in children: A step toward a theory of aggression. Monogr Soc Res Child Dev 1967; 32: 1–43.
- 87 Oregon Social Learning Centre. www.oslc.org.
- 88 Kosterman R, Hawkins JD, Haggerty KP, Spoth R, Redmond C. Preparing for the drug free years: Session-specific effects of a universal parent-training intervention with rural families. J Drug Educ 2001; 31: 47–68.
- 89 Reiter GF, Kilmann PR. Mothers as family change agents. J Counseling Psychol 1975; 22: 61–5.
- 90 Omizo MM, Omizo SA. Effects of parental divorce group participation on childrearing attitudes and children's self-concept. J Hum Educ Dev 1987; 25: 171–9.
- 91 Olsson U. Folkhälsan som pedagogiskt projekt: Bilden av hälsoupplysning. Uppsala: Uppsala universitet, 1997.
- 92 Socialdepartementet. Betänkande om barnkostnadernas fördelning med förslag angående allmänna barnbidrag m m. Stockholm: Socialdepartementet, 1946. (SOU 1946:5).
- 93 Socialdepartementet. Kungliga medicinalstyrelsens utlåtande och förslag angående förebyggande mödra- och barnavård. Stockholm: Socialdepartementet, 1935. (SOU 1935:19).
- 94 Socialdepartementet. Betänkande av utredning om föräldrautbildning. Stockholm: Socialdepartementet, 1997. (SOU 1997:161).
- 95 Socialstyrelsen. Normalreglemente för mödra- och barnhälsovården. Stockholm: Socialstyrelsen, 1969. (Medicinalväsendet 1969:39).
- 96 Socialstyrelsen. Barns hälsa: Hälsovård inom förskoleverksamheten m m. Stockholm: Socialstyrelsen, 1978. (SOSFS 1978:6).
- 97 Socialstyrelsen. Mödra- och barnhälsovård: Förslag till principprogram. Stockholm: Socialstyrelsen, 1979. (Socialstyrelsen redovisar 1979:4).
- 98 Socialstyrelsen. Barnen i primärvården. Stockholm: Socialstyrelsen, 1987. (PM 176/87).
- 99 Socialstyrelsen. Utvecklingstendenser inom barnhälsovården. Stockholm: Socialstyrelsen, 1987. (PM 165/87).

- 100 Socialstyrelsen. Hälsokontroll av 4-åringar. Stockholm: Socialstyrelsen, 1968. (Socialstyrelsen redovisar 1968:2).
- 101 Kungl. medicinalstyrelsen. Angående skyddsympning av barn. Stockholm: Kungl. medicinalstyrelsen, 1965. (MF 1965:11).
- 102 Kungl. medicinalstyrelsen. Normalinstruktion för den förebyggande mödraoch barnavården. Stockholm: Kungl. medicinalstyrelsen, 1955. (MF 1955:21).
- 103 Kungl. medicinalstyrelsen. Angående olycksfallsprofylax bland barn. Stockholm: Kungl. medicinalstyrelsen, 1954. (MF 1954:160).
- 104 Kungl. medicinalstyrelsen. Angående olycksfallsprofylax bland barn. Stockholm: Kungl. medicinalsstyrelsen, 1960. (MF 1960:113).
- 105 Arborelius E, Hallberg A-C, Håkansson A. How to prevent exposure to tobacco smoke among small children: a literature review. Acta Paediatr 2000; 434 (suppl): 65–70.
- Jonsell R. Almanackorna, vår första BVC-upplysning. Läkartidningen 1989; 86: 234–5.
- 107 Winther Jørgensen M, Phillips L. Diskursanalys som teori och metod. Lund: Studentlitteratur, 2000.
- 108 Gill R. Discourse analysis: Practical implementation. In: Richardson JTE, ed. Handbook of qualitative research methods for psychology and the social sciences. Leicester: BPS Books, 1996.
- 109 Tonkiss F. Analysing discourse. In: Seale C, ed. Researching society and culture. London: Sage, 2000.
- 110 Pagano R. Understanding statistics in the behavioral sciences. St. Paul: West, 1990.
- 111 Marton F. Phenomenography describing conceptions of the world around us. Göteborg: Göteborgs universitet, 1981.
- 112 Dahlberg K. Kvalitativa metoder för vårdvetare. Lund: Studentlitteratur, 1993.
- 113 Myrdal A. Folk och familj. Stockholm: Kooperativa förbundets bokförlag, 1944.
- 114 Socialstyrelsen. Kvalitetssäkring av barnhälsovården: Att skydda skyddsnätet. Stockholm: Socialstyrelsen, 1994. (SoS-rapport 1994:19).
- 115 Hall DMB. Health for all children. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1996.
- 116 Zill N. Parental schooling and children's health. Public Health Rep 1996; 111: 34–43.
- 117 Haggerty RJ. Child health 2000: New pediatrics in the changing environment of children's needs in the 21st century. Pediatr 1995; 96: 804–12.
- 118 Leslie LK, Sarah R, Palfrey JS. Child health care in changing times. Pediatr 1998; 101: 746–52.
- 119 Solnit AJ, Scholwalter JE, Nordhaus BF. Best interests of the child in the family and community. Social, legal, and medical implications for pediatri-

cians. Pediatr Clin North Am 1995; 42: 181-91.

- 120 Höjer B. Sjuksköterskan i barnhälsovården: Studier vid genomförandet av reformer vid barnavårdscentraler i Stockholms förorter. Stockholm: Karolinska institutet, 1986. (Thesis).
- 121 Höjer B, Widlund G. Föräldrars uppfattning om BVC:s verksamhet 1977 och 1982. Socialmedicinsk tidskrift 1985; 62: 38–45.
- 122 Widlund G. Barnhälsovård. Arbetsmönstret inom barnhälsovården: Föräldrars uppfattning om verksamheten vid barnavårdscentraler. Stockholm: Stockholms läns landsting, 1990.
- 123 Granberg M, Johansson I. Barnavårdscentralens betydelse för småbarnsföräldrar. Borås: Primärvården, 1993.
- 124 Pleck J. Paternal involvement: levels, sources and consequences. In Lamb M, ed. The father's role in child development. New York: John Wiley & Sons, 1997.
- 125 Hawkins AJ, Bradford KP, Christiansen SL, Palkovitz R, Day RD, Call RA. The inventory of father involvement: A pilot study of a new measure of father involvement. J Men Stud 2000; 10: 183–96.
- 126 Socialstyrelsen. Barn och vuxna. Stockholm: Liber 1980. (SOU 1980:27).
- 127 Bronfenbrenner U. Is early intervention effective? A report on longitudinal evaluations of pre-school programs. Washington, DC: Department of Health, Education and Welfare, Office of Child Development, 1974.
- 128 Godson BD, Hess RD. The effects of parent training program on child performance and parent behaviour. Stanford: Stanford University, 1976.
- 129 Clarke-Stewart KA, Apfel N. Evaluating parental effects on child development. In: Shulman LS, ed. Review of research in education. Itasca: Peacock, 1978: 47–119.
- 130 Anderson RC, Fox RA. A worksite parenting program. J Am Assoc Occup Health Nurs 1990; 38: 59–61.
- 131 Todres R, Bunston T. Parent-education programme evaluation: a review of the literature. Can J Community Ment Health 1993; 12: 225–57.
- 132 Mullin E, Quigley K, Glanville B. A controlled evaluation of the impact of parenting programmes on child behaviour and mothers' general health. Counseling Psychol Q 1994; 7: 167–79.
- 133 Gross D, Fogg L, Tucker S. The efficacy of parent training for promoting positive parent toddler relationships. Res Nurs Health 1995; 18: 489–99.
- 134 Barlow J. Systematic review of the effectiveness of parent education programmes in improving the behaviour of 3–7 year old children. Oxford: HSRU, 1997.
- 135 Sanders MR. Triple P positive parenting program: Towards an empirically validated multilevel parenting and family support strategy for the prevention of behaviour and emotional problems in children. Clin Child Fam Psychol Rev 1999; 2:71–90.

- 136 Cowen PS. Effectiveness of a parent education intervention for at-risk families. J Soc Pediatr Nurs 2001; 6: 73–82.
- 137 Long A, McCarney S, Smyth G, Maggorian N, Dillon A. The effectiveness of parenting programmes facilitated by health visitors. J Adv Nurs 2001; 34: 611–20.
- 138 Black N. Why we need observational studies to evaluate the effectiveness of health care. BMJ 1996; 312: 1215–8.
- 139 Green J, Britten N. Qualitative research and evidence based medicine. BMJ 1998; 316: 1230–2.
- 140 Gaylord NM. Parenting classes: From birth to 3 years. J Pediatr Health Care 2001; 15: 179–86.
- 141 Tones K. Beyond the randomised controlled trial: A case for "judicial review". Health Educ Rev 1996; 12: 1–4.
- 142 Malterud K. Qualitative research: Standards, challenges, and guidelines. Lancet 2001; 358: 483–8.
- 143 Crabtree BF, Miller WL, eds. Doing qualitative research. London: Sage, 1992.
- 144 Britten N, Jones R, Murphy E, Stacy R. Qualitative research methods in general practice and primary care. Fam Pract 1995; 12: 104–14.
- 145 Malterud K. Kvalitative metoder i medisinsk forskning: En innføring. Oslo: Tano-Aschehoug, 1996.
- Logan S. Quantitative vs qualitative methods. Child Care Health Dev 1997;23: 283–6.
- 147 Theman J. The interview as a research instrument. Göteborg: Göteborgs universitet, 1979.
- 148 Harman D, Brim OG. Learning to be parents. Beverly Hills: Sage, 1980.
- 149 Molloy GN. Wanted: Some guidelines for investigating, reporting and evaluating parent training interventions, Aust J Dev Disabil 1980; 6: 71–7.
- 150 Strom R, Griswold D, Slaughter H. Parental background: Does it matter in parent education? Child Stud J 1981; 10: 243–60.
- 151 Weiss CH. The politicization of evaluation research. In: Weiss CH, ed. Evaluating action programs: Readings in social action and education. Boston, Allyn and Bacon, 1972, pp. 327–338.
- 152 Cronbach LJ, Ambron SR, Dornbusch SM, Hess RD, Hornik RC, Phillips DC, Walker DF, and Weiner SS. Toward reform of program evaluation. San Francisco, Jossey Bass, 1980.
- 153 Olsson Ulf. Äventyret i Sverige: En ekonomisk och social historia. Höganäs: Bra Böcker 1993.
- 154 Gleichmann Lee. Föräldraskap mellan styrning och samhällsomvandling: En studie på föräldrar och relation mellan familj och samhälle under perioden 1957–1997. Stockholm: HLS Förlag, 2004.
- 155 Palmblad E, Börjesson M, red. Problembarnets århundrade: Normalitet, expertis och visionen om framsteg. Lund: Studentlitteratur, 2003.

- 156 Björkman J. Barnexperterna lämnar oss ingen ro. Stockholm: Svenska Dagbladet, 27 November 2003.
- 157 Lagerberg D, Magnusson M, Sundelin C. Child health services in transition: 2. Mothers' perceptions of 18-month-old children in the light of socioeconomic status and some subjective factors. Acta Paediatrica, 2005;94: 337–344.
- 158 WHO. Evaluation in health promotion: Principles and perspectives. WHO Regional Publications. European Series, No. 92, 2001.
- 159 Green LW & Lewis FM. Measurement and evaluation in health promotion. Palo Alto, Mayfield, 1986.